Expanding the Reach and Impact Of Healthy Together: Focusing on Newcomer Families

Prepared by:

Abdul-Fatawu Abdulai,

UBC Sustainability Scholar, 2020

Prepared for:

Michele Hopkins

Director of Family Services, The Bridge Youth and Family services

and Dr. Joan Bottorff

Professor, School of Nursing, UBC Okanagan

March 2021

Disclaimer

This report was produced as part of the UBC Sustainability Scholars Program, a partnership between the University of British Columbia and various local governments and organizations in support of providing graduate students with opportunities to do applied research on projects that advance sustainability across the region.

This project was conducted under the mentorship of the Programs Director at The Bridge Youth and Family Services. The opinions and recommendations in this report and any errors are those of the author and do not necessarily reflect the views of The Bridge Youth and Family Services or the University of British Columbia.

Acknowledgments

The author would like to thank the heads of community organizations who have provided information to make this project a success.

I also want to thank Karen Taylor, Program Manager of the UBC Sustainability Initiative, and all the team members of the UBC Sustainability Initiative for making this program possible.

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	1
Introduction	3
Project Part One. Literature Review	4
Description of the included studies	9
Healthy eating	9
Variations in food habits	12
Barriers to healthy eating	12
Physical activity	13
Effectiveness of Healthy Lifestyle Interventions	14
Project Part Two- Key Stakeholder Perspectives	21
Themes	21
Theme 1: Barriers to healthy eating and physical activities.	22
Theme 2: Literacy challenge	24
Theme 3: Cultural differences and cultural sensitivity	25
Summary	26
Recommendations	27
Recommendations for Healthy Together Facilitators	27
Recommendations on Healthy Together materials	29
Recommendations for promoting cultural sensitivity	29
References	31
Appendices	37
Interview Guide	37
Sample of transcribed Interviews	39

Executive Summary

According to the 2016 population and housing census, immigrants make up approximately 21% of Canada's population. Since then, the number of immigrants has been growing steadily. Immigrants typically arrive in Canada healthier than the general Canadian population. However, after years of settlement, immigrants tend to experience poorer health outcomes than their Canadian counterparts. This phenomenon partly necessitated the development of several health promotion interventions aimed at helping immigrants to transition into Canada and live a healthy life. Healthy Together (HT) is an example of a health promotion program that offers a comprehensive approach to promoting healthy eating and physical activity in families with children age 0-18 years. The focus is on creating family-focused change in knowledge, attitudes, beliefs, and behaviour in both healthy eating and physical activity. Though the HT program has demonstrated the potential to promote healthy lifestyles among immigrant and refugee families as well as providing an avenue for building social connections and supporting family resettlement experiences, the program has not been specifically adapted to newcomers. The purpose of this project was to identify ways in which the HT materials and facilitator training can be adapted and used by community organizations to maximize the impact of the program by engaging newcomer families.

This project included two parts. In part one, we conducted a literature review to understand newcomer perspectives on healthy eating and physical activities and the ways in which health promotion programs have been adapted for newcomers, and their effectiveness in supporting healthy lifestyles among newcomer families. The literature review revealed the need for maintaining local food habits among newcomers, inadequate understanding of Canadian foods, age differences in food and physical activity preferences, and the role of acculturation in changing the food habits of newcomers. The review also demonstrated how programs were adapted as well as mixed evidence on the effectiveness of healthy living programs among newcomers.

In part two, key stakeholders in community organizations that serve newcomer families were interviewed. The interview sought stakeholder views on the challenges newcomer families face related to healthy eating and physical activity, ways in which the HT program can be optimized for newcomer families, and how the HT program can be modified to facilitate social connections and cultural sensitivity. The key stakeholders described the challenges newcomers face in maintaining healthy lifestyles. These include a lack of understanding of what constitutes healthy eating and physical activity, lack of knowledge about Canadian foods, literacy challenges that makes it difficult for newcomers to read/understand HT materials and to read food labels, lack of funds to purchase healthy foods, and poor access to traditional foods. Other challenges include the

weather conditions that make outdoor physical activities difficult and the cultural differences between immigrant groups. The cost of funding the HT program was also viewed as a barrier to supporting families. Drawing on their experience in working with newcomers, the stakeholders provided suggestions on how to overcome these challenges. The challenges, as well as stakeholder suggestions, helped to inform recommendations for adapting the HT materials and facilitator training to support newcomer families in Canada.

Introduction

Immigration has been identified as a critical strategy for stimulating Canada's economic growth. It is also regarded as the best solution to sustain the aging population. According to the 2016 population census, immigrants make up approximately 21% of the Canadian population. The number of immigrants are expected to grow over the coming years as Canada is planning to take in an additional 1.2 people by 2023 (IRCC, 2020). Immigrants typically arrive with relatively fewer health problems compared to Canadian-born, a phenomenon known as the 'healthy immigrant effect' (Sanou et al., 2014). However, a few years after settlement, immigrants tend to experience a rapid decline in their health status as often reflected in increased obesity and high incidence of chronic diseases. The "healthy immigrant effect" is also common in other common destination countries for immigrants such as Australia and the United States (Vang et al., 2017). Immigrants may be particularly vulnerable to poor health partly because of family disruptions, limited access to healthcare, poor nutrition, and physical inactivity in their destination country.

To improve the health and wellbeing of newcomers, various health promotion programs focusing on healthy eating and active living, including the Healthy Together (HT) program in Canada, have been developed to obviate the health challenges faced by this group of people (Healthy Together, n.d.). Though newcomers might have been the focus of some programs, many of them have not been specifically adapted to their particular needs. Yet, the success of any prevention program depends on its ability to meet the unique needs of the target group. In other words, to enhance the health and wellbeing of newcomers in their host country, health promotion programs must take into account the needs of families as well as their ethno-cultural practices and preferences related to food and physical activity, and experiences before arrival in Canada and during resettlement that may influence newcomer wellbeing. Therefore, the purpose of this project is to identify ways in which a health promotion program in Canada called Healthy Together can be adapted to meet the needs of newcomer families to Canada. The project included two parts: a) a literature review to summarize what is known about newcomer perspectives regarding healthy eating and physical activities, and the effectiveness of selected programs adapted for newcomer families to support healthy living, and b) interviews with key stakeholders of the community organizations that serve newcomers to Canada to solicit their views on newcomer needs, the challenges they face, cultural sensitivities, and ways in which programs can be adapted to meet the needs of this group. Based on the information gathered, recommendations were developed to guide adaptations to the Healthy Together program for newcomer families in Canada. This project is important because learning and valuing the knowledge, culture, and experiences of newcomers as well as the program providing services to them is crucial to improving the health and wellbeing of immigrants and that of the entire society (Goodkind, 2006).

Project Part One. Literature Review

To understand the nature and extent of the research activities related to the physical activity and nutritional habits of newcomer immigrants, we undertook a review of the literature published mainly within the last 10 years. The review was conducted in two parts. Part one focused on newcomer perspectives on healthy eating and physical activities while Part two reported on the effectiveness of healthy eating programs for newcomer families.

Literature review Part 1

We searched three databases; namely Cumulative Index of Nursing and Allied Health Literature (CINAHL), Embase, and Webs of Science. Each database was searched using the following keywords (Food habits, OR Food preferences OR cooking activity) AND (immigrants OR newcomers OR refugees) AND (physical activity OR physical exercise OR exercising). The search was limited mainly to the literature in North America (i.e. United States and Canada). Papers were included if they contained immigrant or newcomer perspectives on nutrition/food habits or physical activity, discussed a nutritional or physical activity program for newcomers, and were conducted in the English language. Papers were excluded if they were; focused on native Canadians, third-generation immigrants, Indigenous populations, and written in a language other than English. The database search yielded a total of 211 articles when the search was limited to literature in the USA and Canada. The search results were exported to an endnote file. Ninetyseven (97) duplicates were removed. Eighty-eight (88) articles were removed following the title and abstract review. A full-text review was finally conducted on 26 articles and 18 papers met the inclusion criteria (see Table 1). For this review, we provide a summary of what is known about immigrant/newcomer socialization, food habits, and physical activity experiences during resettlement in Canada or the US. Extracted information was entered into Microsoft excel.

	Study/	Aim/objective	Focus	Immigrant	Conclusion/ recommendation
	country	Study type		population	
1	Aljaroudi,	To assess Arab Muslim	Healthy	First-	They recommended Arab Muslim
	et al	immigrant mothers'	eating	generation	mothers may need to enroll in
	(2019).	acculturation level and		Arab Muslim	programs that are designed for Arab
	Canada	the link between		mothers	Muslim immigrants to teach them
		acculturation level and			healthy food choices and how to use

Table 1 Characteristics of included publications

2	Tiedje, K. et al. (2014). USA	experiences of dietary changes, Mixed-method exploratory study To describe the meaning of food health and wellbeing through reported dietary preferences, beliefs, and practices of adults and adolescents in immigrant communities. Exploratory focus group study	Healthy eating	Adolescents and adults who self- identify as Mexican, Somali, Sudanese, and Cambodian.	alternative food materials that reflect their cultural identities The findings indicate that personal, structural, and societal factors work together to shape food preferences, and practices of Somali, Mexican, Sudanese, and Cambodian immigrant populations in the US
3	Wieland, M.L. et al. (2015). USA	To explore perceptions of physical activity among immigrants in the United States. Descriptive exploratory study	Physical activity	Immigrants from Somalia, Mexico, and Cambodia	The findings suggest that shared experiences of immigration, and associated social, economic, and linguistic factors influence how physical activity is understood, conceptualized, and practiced
4	Chapman, G. et al. (2011). Canada	To examine the meanings of food, health, and wellbeing that are embedded in the food practices of Punjabi families living in Vancouver. Descriptive exploratory qualitative study	Healthy eating	Members of 12 families of Punjabi Sikh origin aged 13 to 70	The findings add to an understanding of the ways food practices are used in constructing ethnic identities and health behaviours. The findings also have implications for nutrition education of Punjabi newcomers to western countries including findings ways to emphasize the positive aspects of Indian foods and food preparation methods that are considered healthy and acceptable to newcomers. This could include promoting the centrality

5	Vue, W., Wolff, C., & Goto, K. (2011). USA	To examine perspective on food habits, acculturation, and health among Hmong women with young children in northern California. Grounded theory study	Healthy eating	Hmong women and their children in California	of vegetable dishes and highlighting lower fat ways of preparing these dishes Hmong foods have been identified as a source of self-identity, social support, and a healthful lifestyle. However, they were gradually adopting western foods due to acculturation. Therefore, adopting the healthful aspects of Hmong foods and the healthful aspects of westerns foods should be the focus of nutrition programs
6	Ristovski- Slijepce et al. (2010). Canada	To explore how official dietary guidelines provide regarding healthy eating tends to marginalize other food habits and the relationship between food and health. Qualitative exploratory study	Healthy eating	Ethno-cultural groups in Canada: European Canadian, Punjabi, and African	Young and older people may have different food preferences, and mothers felt personally responsible for providing healthy foods while guarding their children against poor nutrition. Through young people, western food guidelines may get into the family, thereby making families marginalize other food habits.
7	Sanou, D., et al. (2014). Canada	This scoping review aimed to identify knowledge gaps and research priorities related to immigrants' nutritional habits in Canada. Systematic review	Healthy eating	Newcomers and immigrants to Canada	The findings confirmed the healthy immigrants' effect while revealing that gaps in nutritional health persist, thereby creating barriers to health promotion among immigrant groups
8	Banerjee, A.T., et al. (2017). Canada	To examine the feasibility, acceptability, and effectiveness of a mosque-based physical activity program among Muslim women in Canada.	Physical activity	South Asian Muslim Women	There was a demonstrable increase in the mean score for self-efficacy and the importance of engaging in exercise. They recommended the establishment of culturally relevant structured networks such as mosques for Muslim immigrants.

		Pilot feasibility and			
		acceptability study			
9	Dawson- Hahn, E., et al. (2020).	To explore perspectives on healthy eating and physical activity among immigrant parents with	Physical activity & Healthy	Arabs, Somali, Burmese, Nepali, and Dari	Key nutritional focus areas such as access to fresh foods, safe places for physical activity, and feeding practices for families with food scarcity histories
	USA	young children before and after immigration. Exploratory focus group study	eating	immigrants	should be emphasized in programs that deal with newcomer immigrants.
10	Oliffe, J.L. et al. (2010) Canada	To examine the connection between masculinities and diet to reveal how varying gender ideals can influence the practices of Punjabi immigrants practices including the use of specific food and beverages. Descriptive correlational study	Healthy eating	Punjabi Sikh immigrants in Vancouver	Participants' masculine ideals were deeply rooted in their cultures which shaped the use of specific foods. These findings may direct how dietary information should be targeted towards seniors.
11	Azar, K.M. et al. (2013). USA	To explore the role that festival foods play in the regular diet of immigrants to the United States. Systematic review	Healthy eating	Immigrants in the USA	Culturally competent dietary patterns should maintain ethnic traditions while recognizing that stress can lead to the consumption of less nutritious foods
12	Banerjee, A.T. et al. (2014). Canada	To examine the association between frequency of mosque attendance and prevalence of coronary heart diseases, diabetes,	Physical activity	Muslim immigrants and Muslim Canadians in Saskatchewan	The odds of diabetes and hypertension were less for those who frequently attendance mosque

13	Delisle, H.	and hypertension in Canada. Cross-sectional descriptive study To identify healthy and	Healthy	Newcomer	Health or prudent, as opposed to
12	(2010) Canada	cultural relevant dietary patterns that can help prevent diet-related diseases among immigrants. Cross-sectional, comparative study	eating	immigrants from Africa	western eating habits, are common among immigrants. Immigrants believed that fish, cereals, and legumes were healthy, while sweets, processed meat, fried foods, fats, and oil were considered unhealthy. In short, the traditional diet was considered healthier.
14	Hassan, D. A.E., & Hekmat, S. (2012) Canada	To examine the food habits of Arab immigrants to determine if they maintained their traditional food habit or, moved on to a western diet. Descriptive qualitative study	Healthy eating	Arab immigrants in the greater Toronto area	Arab immigrants consume both traditional and western foods. They believed their current diet to be healthier than before they traveled to Canada
15	Holtzman, J.D. (2006). USA	To explore how food evokes a memory or act as a medium of exchange Literature review	Healthy eating	Immigrants in the United States	Foods tend to transmit powerful mnemonic cues, mostly through smells and tastes
16	Harrison, G.G., Kim, L.P., & Kagawa- Singer, M. (2007) USA	To design a health promotion program to promote physical activity and vegetable consumption among low Hmong immigrants. Descriptive qualitative study	Physical Activity & Healthy eating	Hmong immigrants in the United States	Physically activity and fresh foods are common are valued in Hmong culture. Chronic diseases can be prevented by reinforcing traditional eating habits and an active lifestyle in health promotion programs

17	Legault, A., & Marquis, M. (2014). Canada	To explore nutrition information-seeking behaviour of low-income pregnant Maghrebian women. Exploratory qualitative study	Healthy eating	Maghrebian women living in Montreal	Culture and interaction with individuals determine food beliefs, eating habits
18	Ferrari, M. (2009) Canada	To determine the relevance of exiting health education materials dealing with healthy living, active living, and body images. Focus group study	Healthy eating & physical activity	Immigrant mothers from Sri Lanka and china	Immigrant mothers expressed their preference for health education materials to be undertaken in a culturally relevant manner

Description of the included studies

Many of the 18 studies involved parents and their children while two studies involved women's perspectives on their food preferences. Except for two studies, all the studies were published between 2010 and 2020. Eleven studies were focused on newcomers to Canada while seven were focused on newcomers in the United States. Sixteen studies were original publications while three were review papers (Azar et al., 2013; Holtzman, 2006; Sanou et al., 2014). Twelve papers were focused on healthy eating or the nutritional habits of immigrants, four focused on physical activity, and two explored both physical activity and healthy eating. Though some studies discussed how physical activity or nutritional habits could promote socialization, none of the studies exclusively addressed the socialization aspects of newcomers. Nearly all the studies considered first-generation immigrants, while some addressed the eating habits and physical activity habits of children born to immigrants. A significant proportion of the studies involved immigrants from South Asia (Pakistan, Indians, Bangladesh, and Sri Lanka) and China, and a few focused on immigrants from Mexico, and sub-Saharan Africa, particularly Somalia, Ethiopia, and Eritrea.

Healthy eating

Consistent across studies was the desire among newcomers to maintain their traditional food habits to some degree. Punjabi immigrants living in Vancouver, to a large extent, maintained their traditional vegetarian, plant-based, and high carbohydrate diet (Chapman et al., 2011; Oliffe et al., 2010). Arab migrants in Toronto maintained their traditional Halal foods and Arab vegetable diet (Aljaroudi et al., 2019). While Somali, Sudanese, Cambodian, and Mexican immigrants living in Minnesota maintained their traditional food habits to a large extent. Many pregnant Maghrebi women living in Montreal largely maintained their traditional diet, though researchers observed that environmental factors and low-income levels might have influenced some women's desire to incorporate Canadian foods in their diet (Legault & Marquis, 2014).

Several reasons may account for why immigrants may try to maintain their traditional food habits in destination countries. Among some groups, such as Chinese Americans, a traditional diet is often considered to be healthier than the western diet (Liou & Bauer, 2010). Others have pointed to the link between traditional foods and people's cultural identity (Aljaroudi et al., 2019; Azar et al., 2013; Chapman et al., 2011; Legault & Marquis, 2014; Tiedje et al., 2014; Vue et al., 2011). Moreover, food may be understood as a cultural construct that could serve as a marker for families as well as a reminder for immigrants' cultural past (Azar et al., 2013). For instance, Holtzman (2006, p. 367) described 'the longing evoked in diasporic individuals by the smells and tastes of a lost homeland, providing a temporary return to a time when their lives were not fragmented'.

Aside from the cultural reasons for maintaining traditional foods, some immigrants may also be consuming traditional food because they lack knowledge about Canadian food. A review of health education materials dealing with healthy eating among Sri Lanka and Chinese immigrants in Toronto revealed that mothers did not completely understand the materials including the Canadian Food Guide (Ferrari et al., 2009). Secondly, unfamiliarity with Canadian foods, inadequate knowledge regarding the nutritional value of Canadian foods, and the food cooking techniques was reported as some of the reasons why some Chinese and Indian newcomers living in Canada prefer to continue with their traditional foods habits (Sanou et al., 2014). Though immigrants may generally have less knowledge of Canadian food habits, recent newcomers were more likely to lack adequate knowledge of the nutritional value of Canadian foods (Sanou et al., 2014). Typical western eating habits such as set times for meals may also be unfamiliar to some newcomers where the norm is to eat when hungry and foods are not restricted to certain meals (Vue et al. 2011).

Four studies highlighted the important role of women in maintaining traditional food culture and ensuring that the family eats healthy foods (Aljaroudi et al., 2019; Ristovski-Slijepcevic et al., 2010; Tiedje et al., 2014; Vue et al., 2011). Parents, in particular, felt that they had an important role to play in maintaining cultural identity through feeding their children with or inculcating in their children traditional food habits (Aljaroudi et al., 2019; Vue et al., 2011). Mothers of African

and Punjabi immigrants in Nova Scotia and British Columbia specifically saw themselves as responsible for providing information and sources of nutritious foods as well as guarding their children against poor nutritional habits (Ristovski-Slijepcevic et al., 2010). According to Aljaroudi et al. (2019), in situations where children's nutritional preferences might have differed from what their mothers recommend or provide, meal-time conflicts were likely to arise. Immigrant families also see traditional foods as a way of promoting family togetherness and dealing with the stressors of adapting to a new culture (Azar et al., 2013). Despite the willingness to maintain traditional foods among immigrants, researchers have reported openness to adopt new foods and healthy food preparation methods alongside maintaining traditional foods (Aljaroudi et al., 2019).

As culture plays a critical role in immigrants' choice of food and eating habits, culture sensitivity should be considered in the design of healthy eating programs. Institutions where meals may be prepared such as schools and community organizations that serve newcomers must be aware of the unique needs of a diverse ethnocultural community to facilitate a culturally sensitive program (Hesketh et al., 2017). Sri Lanka and Chinese immigrants living in the greater Toronto area expressed their preference for health education materials, and the Canadian Food Guide, in particular, to be developed in a culturally-relevant and participatory manner (Ferrari et al., 2009).

Despite newcomers' desire to maintain their culture through traditional food habits, they were more likely to adopt western food overtime in their host country (El Hassan & Hekmat, 2012; Sanou et al., 2014; Tiedje et al., 2014; Vue et al., 2011). This transition could be attributed to the role of dietary acculturation among newcomers in their host countries (Sanou et al., 2014). Dietary acculturation refers to the process in which immigrants adopt the dietary habits of their destination countries. The transition in dietary habits has been reported to account for the rapid decline in newcomer health following migration (Sanou et al., 2014). The decline in health is not because western foods are unhealthy, it is partly because immigrants tend to consume "unhealthy" western foods believing that they are "healthy" (Tiedje et al., 2014). Therefore, though immigrants may try as much as possible to maintain their traditional foods, they tend to gradually adopt western food habits that are generally considered unhealthy. For instance, a study by Aljaroudi et al. (2019) revealed that Arab women began to gradually adopt a westernstyle, easy to prepare foods such as grilled chicken, meatballs, fries, pizza, and nuggets mainly because of the unavailability or cost of traditional foods. To promote the health of Arab women, Aljaroudi et al. (2019) recommended that Arab women enroll in programs that teach about foods available in Canada and how to use these foods to prepare healthy meals, and how to use alternative ingredients to provide traditional foods for their families.

Variations in food habits

Several factors that influence immigrants' food choices were described in the literature. These factors include the time spent in the destination country, age of family members, food preferences, health concerns, work schedules, and food beliefs (Chapman et al., 2011). There were variations between elders' and young people's food habits. A study by Chapman et al. (2011) on the food preferences among Punjabi families in Vancouver reported that elders preferred traditional Indian food such as Roti (flatbread), dahl (lentils), and Subjee (vegetables), while young people wanted to have at least some western food as part of their meals. Roti, for instance, was considered more satisfying to adults than western foods. Similar results were obtained in Vue et al.'s (2011) study on the perspective of food culture and health among Hmong women and their children living in the United States. Though adults preferred traditional Hmong foods such as rice, children were more likely to prefer western food such as McDonald's, Pizza, and grilled chicken. The women in this study indicated that eating western foods alone did not satisfy their appetites, in contrast to Hmong food that they perceived as more filling and energy-dense. For these families, meals were not complete unless they included rice. Variations in perceptions of suitable food portions were also evident.

Barriers to healthy eating

Though immigrants often prefer traditional foods to western foods, several factors, including time constraints, cost of traditional foods, and change in the supply and availability of traditional foods influence a cultural shift towards western foods (Azar et al., 2013). As most newcomers are likely to come from low-income countries in South Asia, the middle east, and sub-Saharan Africa (Azar et al., 2013), the cost of traditional foods as well as healthy Canadian foods may pose a peculiar challenge for low-income families. In Aljaroudi et al.'s (2019) study, Arab Muslim women in Canada preferred Halal foods (i.e. foods that are considered lawful in their culture) and fresh vegetables but these were expensive or unavailable at some places. There were also concerns about differences in the taste of fruits and vegetables available in Canadian shops, and whether this might be linked to any food chemicals. More than 40% of women in Aljaroudi et al.'s (2019) study reported cooking with frozen foods due to the cost or the unavailability of fresh traditional Arab vegetables in the Canadian market, especially during the winter. For other groups, low socio-economic status has been a major factor in transitioning to western foods because foods such as processed meat and refined carbohydrates are relatively cheaper, readily available, and convenient to prepare than traditional foods (Azar et al., 2013; Delisle, 2010). While some western food such as fast foods may be considered unhealthy, some Arab immigrants in Canada, who consumed western foods perceived it to be healthier than the food available in their home

country before immigration (El Hassan & Hekmat, 2012). According to them, some food items in the Canadian market are quite cheaper than their previous country (ibid).

Aside from the cost of traditional foods, newcomers may not have sufficient time, types of cooking equipment, or may not live in the right home environments that would allow them to prepare traditional meals. Newcomers from Somalia, Mexico, Cambodia, and Sudan living in the Midwestern United States specifically indicated a lack of time as a major reason why they chose to eat western-style fast foods (Tiedje et al., 2014). Another study by Oliffe et al. (2010) also revealed changes in the home environment and unavailability of the right cooking equipment as some of the barriers against healthy eating among Punjabi men in Canada. Even when all these barriers may be overcome at some point in time, the sheer difficulty involved in preparing some traditional foods may demotivate immigrants to prepare traditional dishes (Azar et al., 2013). For convenience sake, easy-to-prepare, western-style foods such as grilled chicken, nuggets, fries, pizza, and waffles may be chosen in place of traditional meals. In summary, these studies indicate that though western fast foods may be considered unhealthy, the time constraints, cost of traditional foods, and the role of acculturation may ultimately lead immigrants to consume a mixture of both traditional and western diet (El Hassan & Hekmat, 2012), or in the case of children, to ultimately consume more western diet (Tiedje et al., 2014).

Physical activity

Six studies reported that newcomers are generally less active after immigration (Banerjee et al., 2014, 2017; Dawson-Hahn et al., 2020; Kim et al., 2007; Sanou et al., 2014; Wieland et al., 2013). The reduced levels of physical activity were generally attributed to the sedentary lifestyle of western life, lack of physical space for physical activity (Wieland et al., 2013), and perceptions that neighborhoods in Canada are less safe for exercise than what they experienced in their home countries (Dawson-Hahn et al., 2020; Renzaho et al., 2012). While the benefits of physical activity may be well recognized by immigrants, lack of familiarity and discomfort with western ways of physical activities was also recognized as a significant barrier to remaining physically active (Wieland et al., 2013). Newcomers typically thought of physical activities in terms of outdoor activities including jogging, sports, and household chores, although this was influenced by gender and age. While females were likely to associate physical activities with household chores, males viewed physical activity as engaging in sports and hard labour. Similarly, children were likely to associate physical activity with exercise and sports, and adults equated physical activity with work and recreational activities. Lack of time, lack of space or organized sports program, and money to engage in physical activities were cited as major reasons why Hmong Community in America do not frequently engage in physical activities (Kim et al., 2007). Parents

specifically stated a lack of money and time to respectively pay for and supervise their children in exercise programs as a deterrent to physical activities. Another important barrier to physical activities may be due to the weather conditions (winter), language barriers, and a lack of knowledge about available physical activity programs within newcomer localities (Kim et al., 2007; Wieland et al., 2013).

Recommendations for physical activities

To improve the physical health of immigrants, Dawson-Hahn et al. (2020) suggested that physical activity programs should support newcomers to engage in exercises they consider safe enough and appropriate to their age and gender. The provision of cultural and gender-appropriate physical activity programs, such as women-only sessions, has also been recommended as a way of eliminating gender disparity in physical activity among newcomers with strong religious beliefs (Banerjee et al., 2014). Kim et al. (2007) recommended the creation of free public parks and public spaces to cater to the exercise needs of newcomers who may not have space nor money to engage in or pay for organized physical activity programs. Instead of allowing only children to exercise, Kim et al. (2007) also recommended that parents be encouraged to engage in physical activities with their children as a way of encouraging children to be physically active. Additionally, having school and after-school programs, tournaments, and community services supervised by teachers/volunteers was seen as a way of removing the time, financial and logistical barriers to engaging in physical activity (Kim et al., 2007). Banerjee et al. (2017) examined the feasibility, acceptability, and effectiveness of a mosque-based physical activity intervention among South-Asian Muslim women in Toronto. There were increased self-efficacy and improved functional quality of life following the intervention. This study demonstrated the importance of culturallyrelevant and structured networks in promoting physical activities among newcomers. Due to intercultural differences, physical activity program developers are advised to start with the identification of commonalities and differences between groups so that programs do not inadvertently exclude any sub-group (Tremblay et al., 2006).

Effectiveness of Healthy Lifestyle Interventions

As immigrants gradually acculturate into a new culture in Canada, their physical activity and dietary habits are likely to be less healthy than the non-immigrant population in the long term (Gadd et al., 2005). Therefore, interventions to increase physical activity and promote healthy nutrition during the initial years of settlement may be particularly helpful in enhancing the wellbeing of immigrants in subsequent years. While interventions to increase physical activity and improve nutrition among newcomer populations are increasingly being offered, some of them have not been specifically tailored to immigrant populations, and their effectiveness been

not been ascertained. This section of the literature review explores programs that have been developed or evaluated for immigrant families to support healthy lifestyles. Programs that have shown an improvement in health outcomes have been adapted for immigrant populations in various settings.

An overview of included studies

A basic search of the literature was conducted to identify relevant studies that adapted or evaluated healthy living programs. Thirteen studies were identified – all published after 2010. Five studies were randomized control design, two were cross-sectional studies, one was an observational study (O'Connor et al., 2020), a systematic review (Tovar et al., 2014), two were quasi-experimental studies (Ayala, Ibarra, Horton, et al., 2015; Yin et al., 2012), and a mixedmethods feasibility study (Stern et al., 2021). Seven studies focused on both healthy eating and physical activities while six were specifically related to healthy eating. Majority of the studies evaluated programs for Latino and Hispanic immigrants while two studies evaluated an intervention developed for Sudanese and Somalian newcomers (Hull et al., 2018; Wieland et al., 2016). Table 2 below shows the study characteristics for this part of the literature review.

	Study/ country	Aim/objective/ Study type	Focus	Immigrant population	Conclusion/ recommendation
1	O'Connor et al (2020). USA	To examine Hispanic families' perceptions about a health promotion program known as Healthy Dads Healthy Kids and solicit suggestions on how to culturally adapt the program. Qualitative study	Healthy eating/ Physical activity	Hispanic families	Several barriers to engagement in programs including lack of time, physically demanding jobs emerged. Weekly videos and Facebook were seen as favorable alternatives to engage newcomers in this program.
2	Tovar, A, et al. (2014). USA	To assess the effectiveness of obesity prevention and control programs among young immigrants from	Healthy eating	Latino/Predo minantly Mexican immigrants.	Among the 20 studies that met the inclusion criteria, only five had an effect on obesity-related outcomes. There is a paucity of

Table 2 Characteristics of included studies focused on programs to support healthy lifestyles among
newcomer and immigrant families

3	Ayala et al (2015) USA	childhood to adulthood in the United States. Systematic review To examine the combined effect of 2 evidence- based health communication strategies on promoting healthy eating among immigrant families Quasi-experimental study	Healthy eating	Mexican immigrants	data on effective interventions that address obesity The program was found to engage families and improve their diet.
4	Schmied, et al. (2015). USA	To examine the implementation of "The Entre Familia" health promotion program and assess the relationship between implementation factors and dietary changes. Randomized control design	Healthy Eating	Latino newcomers in the United States	The findings reveal that families' engagement in programs and support from social networks may improve change. There were also positive relationships between specific interventions and dietary changes.
5	Kobel, S. et al. (2016). USA	To investigate a one-year intervention for increasing physical activity and promoting healthy eating among children. Randomized control design	Healthy eating / Physical activity	Children with migration backgrounds	The intervention was found to reach children with migration backgrounds but marginal effects were found. A long period of the intervention (more than 1 year) might result in more positive changes in healthy eating and physical activities.
6	Yin Z. (2012). USA	To test the effectiveness of a culturally tailored obesity prevention intervention in low-come preschool immigrants.	Healthy eating	Mexican American children	The program shows greater promise in improving the weight and gross motor skills development in children at risk for obesity.

		Quasi-experimental study			
7	Wieland M. (2016). USA	To evaluate a physical activity and nutrition intervention program for immigrant and refugee families. Randomized control design	Healthy eating/Physic al activity	Hispanic, Somali, and Sudanese immigrants	The findings show that 45.7% of adolescents and 80% of adults were still obese following the intervention.
8	Hull P. (2018). USA	To assess the efficacy of a culturally-tailored weight gain prevention program for Hispanic immigrant families with children aged 5-7 years. Cluster randomized design	Healthy eating/physic al activity	Hispanic Immigrants	The average BMI for the intervention group did not differ significantly from the control group.
9	Wieland, M. (2018) USA	To evaluate healthy eating and physical activity for immigrant families. Randomized control trial	Healthy eating/physic al activity	Hispanic, Somali, and Sudanese immigrants	The intervention produced a sustained dietary improvement among adults but not adolescents
10	Stern, M. (2020)	To determine the feasibility and acceptability of a multi- family behavioural intervention program known as ADAPT. Mixed method study	Healthy eating	Latino migrants	Participants expressed great interest in participants but also reported key facilitators and barriers that can facilitate as well as impede the adoption of the program
11	Arredondo et al., (2018)	To test the effectiveness of the "entre familia" program after 2 years of implementation. Descriptive cross- sectional study	Healthy eating	Mexican children	There was a sustained increase in the intake of vegetables among young people in a 10month follow- up period.

12	Kobel et al. (2019)	To compare the physical activity and weight levels of children with migration backgrounds and children without migration backgrounds after a health promotion intervention. Descriptive correlational	Healthy eating/ Physical activity	German Children	Children with a migration background were less physically active than those without a migration background. They also have a higher risk of e=developing secondary diseases than those without a migration background.
13	Bottorff et al., (2020)	study To evaluate Healthy Together in a real-world scale-up phase. Cross-sectional study	Healthy Eating/physic al activity	Newcomer families to Canada	The findings revealed an improvement in healthy eating, physical activities, and social connections among immigrants in community organizations that support newcomers

Intervention effectiveness

Despite the existence of several interventions to promote healthy eating and physical activity, there have been mixed findings regarding the effectiveness of healthy lifestyle programs among immigrant populations (Sanou et al., 2014). A systematic review of obesity prevention interventions among a largely Latino immigrant population in the US found some interventions to have a positive effect on obesity-related outcomes among adults and children (Tovar et al., 2014). The majority of the studies in this review used educational and family health promotion strategies to target both physical activity and nutrition habits. Almost half of the studies in this systematic review were pilot studies.

There are other examples where successful healthy lifestyle programs have been adapted for immigrant families in other settings. For example, a randomized control trial of a healthy lifestyle program in Australia, known as 'Healthy Dads Healthy Kids (HDHK)' has demonstrated significant positive effects on fathers' weight loss and improved well-being of both fathers and their children (Morgan et al., 2011, 2014). This program, which aimed to promote physical activity, healthy eating, and weight loss for overweight fathers and their children, has demonstrated a reduction in the weight of fathers while influencing children's eating and physical activity habits. Owing to the successes of this program, HDHK was later adapted to Hispanic families in the United States (O'Connor et al., 2020) as well as other ethnically diverse groups in the United Kingdom (Jolly et

al., 2020). The cultural adaptations included decreasing the literacy levels, integrating cultural values, and addressing the barriers to participation. The program in both settings was specifically tailored to immigrant groups without losing its core components. For healthy lifestyle programs to have a meaningful reduction in obesity outcomes, Peña et al. (2012) suggested such programs should recognize the ethnic and culture-specific practices and beliefs, the role of family ties, people's beliefs regarding the cause of obesity, and provision of linguistic and culturally appropriate care.

Another family-based healthy lifestyle intervention designed to improve the dietary intake (specifically, vegetables) of Latino immigrants in the United States has demonstrated a significant increase in vegetable intake, dietary fiber intake, and a reduced-fat intake in four months from the baseline (Ayala, Ibarra, Horton, et al., 2015). An impact assessment of the same program among immigrant children also demonstrated an increased consumption of fruits and vegetables and a reduced intake of fast food among the intervention group (Ayala, Ibarra, Horton, et al., 2015; Horton et al., 2013). A process evaluation of this program shows intervention fidelity while supporting the need for the program to be implemented in other settings including the clinical settings (Schmied et al., 2015). This program, which used an entertainment-education strategy also suggests that maintaining social networks and obtaining supports from such networks may improve fruit and vegetable consumption among newcomers (ibid). While a process evaluation is being conducted among other groups, efforts are underway to test and assess the costeffectiveness of an adapted version of the program as part of an Obesity Care Model funded by a federal health agency (Ayala, Ibarra, Binggeli-Vallarta, et al., 2015). A 10-month follow-up data on this program to investigate the interventions' effect on dietary intake and changes in mothers' dietary intake revealed a sustained intervention effect in children's intake of vegetables (Arredondo et al., 2018).

Finally, an evaluation of a family health promotion program in Canada known as Healthy Together was conducted. Although the program was not specifically designed for newcomers, facilitators were encouraged to adapt the program to the needs of newcomers attending HT group sessions. End-of-program feedback from newcomer participants indicated that they enjoyed the HT program and they reported improvement in healthy eating, physical activities, and social connections (Bottorff et al., 2020). Facilitators and participants provided important suggestions for future adaptations of the program for newcomer families. These included providing low literacy program resources, cooking activities that enabled sourcing foods (or suitable substitutes) for culturally diverse recipes, accommodating religious and cultural dietary restrictions, and providing a safe and inclusive environment to enable families to explore healthy eating and physical activity from a Canadian perspective. The flexibility and adaptability of the HT program for implementation in diverse contexts were recognized as a strength of the program

design. The preliminary findings from these studies suggest that interventions can be successfully adapted and tailored to a specific group to achieve similar or better outcomes as that of the original program.

Health promotion programs that were specifically tailored to immigrant populations have also been evaluated. A culturally adapted obesity prevention pilot program known as Active Healthy Families was designed to prevent obesity among Hispanic families with elementary school children. A randomized control trial of this pilot study has demonstrated no significant difference between the intervention and the control group (Hull et al., 2018). Other health programs for immigrant families have shown different outcomes among adults and children (Wieland et al., 2018). A randomized control trial of healthy eating and a physical activity intervention program among immigrant Hispanic, Somali, and Sudanese immigrants has demonstrated a significant improvement in the healthy eating index among adults (Wieland et al., 2018). No difference in healthy eating was observed for children and no difference in physical activity among both adults and children. The reasons interventions may not substantially improve obesity outcomes among some immigrant age-groups could be attributed to the fact that the health issues of immigrants are multiple, complex, and poorly understood (Dunn & Dyck, 2000; Malmusi et al., 2010). The impact of acculturation, health literacy, and the socio-economic level of immigrants highlights the complexity of immigrant health (Walker et al., 2015). Another study tested the effectiveness of a culturally tailored obesity prevention program among low-income Mexican immigrant pre-school children in a quasi-experimental pretest/post-test design (Yin et al., 2012). The findings of this study demonstrated promise in creating the necessary environment to positively impact weight loss and gross motor development in children at risk of developing obesity. By this, the program employed theories of early childhood development and a systems approach including staff wellness, parents' education, and cultural integration to help young people change their eating and physical activity habits.

Other interventions were not only designed to promote immigrant children's physical activity or healthy eating but include other components that support wellbeing (Dreyhaupt et al., 2012; Kobel et al., 2017). 'Join the Health Boat', is a school-based health promotion program to increase physical activity, promote fruits and vegetable intake, and decrease screen time and consumption of soft drinks (Kobel et al., 2017). Evaluations of this one-year intervention suggest a moderate reduction in daily screen media time, and a marginal improvement in physical activity in children with migration backgrounds (Kobel et al., 2017). However, a follow-up cross-sectional study shows that children with a migration background were more likely to be less physically active, and at a higher risk of developing secondary diseases than children without a migration background (Kobel et al., 2019). The findings from this latest study suggest that the intervention did not produce a sustained improvement in physical activity or reduction in screen time.

The evidence presented in this section suggests mixed findings regarding the effectiveness of healthy lifestyle interventions to improve the health of immigrant families. While several factors might have accounted for the ineffectiveness in some programs, it could be argued that in some cases programs were not adequately adapted to suit the newcomer groups they serve. These findings, along with the promising preliminary findings regarding newcomer experiences of the HT program, support the need to identify ways in which the Healthy Together program can be optimized for newcomer families in Canada.

Project Part Two- Key Stakeholder Perspectives

In the second part of this project, we interviewed key stakeholders of community organizations that serve newcomer families in Canada. A purposive sample of stakeholders were invited by the project mentor to participate in the project. The interview guide was developed jointly with the project mentors and assessed stakeholders' views on newcomer family needs regarding healthy eating and physical activity, the challenges newcomers experience related to healthy eating and engaging in physical activities, and suggestions on how existing programs can be adapted for newcomer families transitioning to life in Canada. The interviews were conducted via Zoom and saved onto a password-protected computer for analysis. We listened to the audio transcript and wrote down important responses related to the objectives of this project. Content analysis was conducted to identify themes related to the project objectives.

A total of nine stakeholders (and in some cases, program facilitators) of community organizations across Canada were interviewed. While some community organizations were solely focused on newcomers, the majority of them were focused on improving the health and wellbeing of both Canadians and newcomers. The organizations generally provide services to newcomers from different countries around the world but families that most often use their services were reported to be immigrants from countries in sub-Saharan Africa (Somalia, Eritrea, Ethiopia), the middle east (Iran, Syria), Asia (China, Pakistan, India), Brazil, and the Americas (Mexico and Brazil). The families served were on average moderate in size with children ranging from an average of 2-3 per family. Newcomer mothers and their children were most often involved in programs, though men occasionally attend some sessions.

Themes

Stakeholders shared observations about the various ways newcomers learn about healthy food choices, the barriers newcomer families experience related to healthy eating and physical activity, the challenges experienced in finding preferred food and exercise programs, and

suggestions on how programs can be adapted for newcomers families. The perspectives of these community-based representatives are organized according to three major themes.

Theme 1: Barriers to healthy eating and physical activities.

Stakeholders consistently reported on the barriers newcomers face in eating and maintaining a healthy diet, and engaging in physical activity. The major sub-theme was a lack of knowledge about what constitutes healthy foods and recommended physical activities. Other sub-themes were related to limited access to healthy traditional foods or foods that are familiar, and inadequate funds for newcomers to buy healthy foods. Finally, there were reports that organizations had difficulty securing funds to offer the HT program.

Lack of knowledge about healthy eating and physical activity.

Stakeholders consistently reported that many newcomers do not have adequate knowledge of what constitutes healthy food and physical activity in the first place. For example, some newcomers are more likely to eat "sweet" or "fatty" foods because they are considered "healthy" in their home countries. In effect, what is usually considered unhealthy in Canada is, paradoxically, considered healthy by some newcomers. This concern was commonly reported for Arab immigrants from countries in the Middle East where salty and fatty food are a common dietary practice.

Aside from a lack of knowledge about what is considered healthy foods in Canada, stakeholders also reported that many newcomers do not know "how much exercise one needs, what healthy weights are and the different activities that they can do to be physically active". As stakeholder 3 reported, many people face these challenges because "the form of physical activity programs in their home countries significantly contrasts with what exists in Canada". More importantly, lack of knowledge or information about the existence of the Healthy Together program itself was reported as a challenge that newcomers face in accessing the program. This challenge was reported for newcomers who settle in large cities in Canada. One stakeholder indicated that some newcomers usually express surprise that "programs like this existed and they did not know about it..... and coming to a new country where there are maybe friends, it is not easy to navigate your way to find such programs on your own".

Lack of knowledge about Canadian foods.

It was not just a lack of knowledge about what constitutes healthy foods, but stakeholders indicated that newcomers generally lack adequate knowledge about Canadian foods, the food guide contained in the HT toolkit, and how to prepare those foods. In the HT manual, as one stakeholder explained, "There'll be fruits or vegetables that some newcomers haven't seen

before and they don't know how to cook them". Also, some newcomers can be reluctant to prepare food that has been recommended to them until they try it out. One stakeholder stated: "People come to like what we teach them when they finally have a taste of it". Furthermore, packing lunch for children to go to school is a practice that some newcomers consider to be strange. "So how do you pack like a cold lunch or a hot lunch, and how do you, you know, what kind of thermostat you use....."

Lack of funds for newcomers and HT programs

Another significant theme that ran through all stakeholder interviews is the issue of inadequate funds for newcomer families to buy healthy foods, buy exercise equipment like bicycles, or register for professional gyms or recreational programs. The issue of lack of funds was seen as a major challenge among newcomers with large families. Even when such families have adequate knowledge of what they need to eat to stay healthy, they may not be able to buy healthy foods. One stakeholder explained, "[The priority is] just to get food, so healthy foods is less of a concern... So even though the HT manual may contain good resources, those resources aren't helpful if people cannot afford it". Purchasing healthy foods including fruits and vegetables was particularly challenging during winter when there is a general increase in prices of fresh products. Although some newcomers with limited financial resources may access frozen or cheaper canned foods, others were reported to rely on "sugary food" for their survival.

Aside from inadequate funds for families, lack of funds for community organizations to fund the HT program was also reported as a major challenge for program delivery. The lack of funds was viewed as particularly problematic when it affects the continuity of the HT programs at a time when the program is showing positive effects on the lives of newcomers. According to stakeholder 7, "Programs usually come to an end at a time newcomers begin to show some improvements in body weight and healthy eating". To this end, stakeholders indicated a need for ongoing program funding to ensure sustained improvement in newcomer family health.

Access to familiar foods

According to the stakeholders, a major challenge newcomers face, especially during their early days in Canada, is accessing foods that are familiar to them. First of all, many of the foods that may be familiar to newcomers are not likely to be found in the major grocery stores. Secondly, newcomers may not know where to locate local stores that sell foods that are familiar to them. Even when such stores are known to newcomers, the distances alone and the cost of commuting those long distances may be challenging, particularly for single-parent families with many children. As reported by stakeholder 4, "As a single parent, you're not going to take a toddler, an

infant on the bus for an hour and a half to get there to buy two bags of food, and then to come back on that bus another hour and a half. So availability within the community is number one".

Weather conditions

Weather conditions were reported as a major challenge for engaging in healthy eating and physical activities. There can be fewer options for fresh fruits and vegetables during the winter period, and they can be more expensive during these months. Most newcomers also see cold weather as a deterrent to engaging in outdoor physical activity. There was also difficulty with access to warm clothes and boots. Stakeholders also reported other barriers. For instance, one person stated some newcomers view "physical activity as not something associated with fun and mainly for children", and others described taboos around public physical activity for some women and children. Another challenge with engaging in physical activity has to do with newcomers who live in apartments without any backyards or convenient access to parks or playgrounds.

Theme 2: Literacy challenge

According to the stakeholders, the majority of newcomers have either limited English skills or in some cases, are illiterate. This makes it difficult to read or understand the information provided by HT or on food labels. Stakeholders also indicated that newcomers often find HT materials to be too wordy, voluminous, and difficult to understand even when they can speak English and definitely "too hard" for people to understand if English is their second language. The difficulty in understanding the materials was compounded by "a lack of translated materials". According to stakeholder 5, even though "health information from public health have translated materials in Chinese, in Persian sometimes, and even in Spanish, all the recipes and handouts from Healthy Together are in English". To reduce the literacy barriers stakeholders suggested that, instead of having written information on healthy foods and physical activities as resources in the HT program, the program should include resources with pictures that convey a vivid description of what participants need to know regarding healthy eating along with other low literacy materials. Though stakeholders indicated several strategies to improve HT for newcomers, they suggested that information should be well presented so as not to inadvertently stigmatize or exclude anyone. Stakeholder 7, for instance, stated that exercise programs should be inclusive and carefully and thoughtfully planned to avoid excluding or stigmatizing individuals who may have difficulty participating in activities (e.g., because they are overweight or obese).

Theme 3: Cultural differences and cultural sensitivity

Stakeholders indicated that given the diverse backgrounds of newcomers, there are always cultural differences among HT participants regarding dietary practices and forms of physical activity. Therefore, ensuring cultural sensitivity during programing was considered as a way of promoting inclusion, encouraging uptake of programs, and promoting social connections during service delivery. For instance, there were reports of cultural barriers around food such as no beef for some Punjabi immigrants, no pork and only halal food for people from mostly Arab countries, and taboos around frozen foods for some newcomers. Therefore, rather than "forcing" Canadian foods on newcomers, some organizations encourage HT participants to take on "leadership roles" and participate in deciding what cooking and exercise activities are included in the program. Advantages of this approach for HT participants included: "incorporating ethnic food in cooking activities," "increased engagement when families bring their own recipes to the group" and "feeling more connected to their community".

There was agreement that it was important not to make assumptions regarding people's eating preferences because of a country of origin. To ensure cultural sensitivity when uncertain about the dietary practices of HT participants, some organizations serve snacks that do not contain any meat products or have options for meat and non-meat snacks. For example, stakeholder 4 stated, "we give snacks containing fruits and vegetables so that we're not running into providing a snack where somebody wouldn't eat it". To enhance cultural sensitivity, one stakeholder suggested: "It's important for facilitators to listen, observe, introduce new families to other people, and participate alongside the activities HT participants are engaged in".

Stakeholders from community organizations also talked about cultural barriers surrounding physical activity including gender norms that make participation in some physical activities difficult for women. For instance, engaging in physical activities with the opposite sex was a major cultural issue for HT participants mostly of Arab origin. The stakeholders also reported that some cultural clothing women wear can be a barrier to engaging in physical activities, while others have observed that some newcomers believe it is inappropriate for adults to exercise with children. To support culturally sensitive programming, it was suggested that HT participants be invited to suggest physical activities they would enjoy and who should be involved. Stakeholder 5 explained how they provided a culturally safe place for physical activity: "Some women are very self-conscious around white people and male-dominated groups. Because our community center is visible from the outside...... we provide only female activities and make sure we cover the windows so that people can't see from outside". For women who may not be comfortable exercising with men or exercising in public spaces, some HT facilitators offered physical activity programming in women-only facilities or spaces.

Social connectivity

One important finding that was consistent across stakeholders was the social and emotional disconnect newcomers experience in Canada following the "cultural shock" associated with migration. This could be particularly difficult for newcomers that do not come to Canada with their full families, such as single mothers and their children. In such instances, stakeholders see engagement in HT programs as a way of fostering emotional connection and building a sense of community. The group activities in HT were viewed as a key vehicle for building social support and connectivity. For example, one stakeholder stated: "I think the group activity allows them to meet each other also, and to build social networks". Another stakeholder stated: "The group setting is a great way to talk about the different foods, and where the resources in the community are. It is also a place to find people from the same country.... so I would say group activities are the best." During group cooking activities, participants can share various ways of cooking, and share different cultural recipes. These group activities can also serve as a medium for those with good English proficiency to teach others. Aside from cooking together, group exercise activities are also seen as a way of promoting a sense of belonging for those without supporting family members. During HT sessions, for example, some organizations incorporated "music and dance traditions" of the various newcomer groups to enable participants to participate in cultural traditions with their children and others in the group. However, stakeholders noted that while group cooking and physical activity programs may be the best approach to HT, having group activities will be difficult in this pandemic. "Group setting is the best but right now, uh, with COVID, um"

Emotional support

Key stakeholders recognized that some newcomers may have experienced trauma (e.g., related to conflict, war, or deprivation), and that facilitators may not have the skills to offer the emotional support needed to support their transition to life in Canada. For instance, social workers or professional counselors may be needed to offer psychological and emotional support to newcomers who have experienced trauma. Stakeholder 7 specifically stated that "Because of the war in Syria, we had some people that came with a lot of trauma and stress but you know we don't have the skills to deal with that".

Summary

Our project activities provided an overview of the challenges that newcomers face in eating healthy foods and engaging in physical activity, as well as challenges in implementing Healthy

Together with newcomer families. The primary concerns identified were a lack of knowledge on what constitutes healthy eating and physical activity, inadequate knowledge about Canadian foods, lack of access to traditional foods, challenges newcomer families to experience living on low-incomes, and accommodating to a range of dietary preferences. Literacy challenges such as the inability to read labels on food items or to read the information provided by Healthy Together as well as the winter season were seen as barriers to newcomers taking up healthy lifestyles. The stakeholders suggested various ways in which the Healthy Together program can be adapted for newcomer families as well as several ways to overcome these challenges and ensure that Healthy Together is acceptable and effective with newcomer families including those with low-income levels. The specific challenges, as well as stakeholder suggestions, have informed several recommended strategies that can help HT facilitators to adapt the program to be more appropriate to newcomer families.

Recommendations

Drawing on the findings of our literature reviews and information provided by the stakeholders, recommendations for adapting the HT program for newcomer families were developed. The recommendations are grouped into three main sections including recommendations for HT facilitators, recommendations on how HT materials can be modified, and recommendations on ensuring cultural safety during HT sessions.

Recommendations for Healthy Together Facilitators

Content-related recommendations (Healthy Eating)

- 1. To support newcomers in understanding healthy eating in a Canadian context, it is important to differentiate healthy foods from junk foods. Providing multiple examples may be helpful in explaining what makes food healthy. Comparisons with traditional foods may also be helpful for some newcomer families. It may also be important to differentiate between "sweet healthy" foods (e.g., fresh fruit) and "sweet unhealthy" foods (e.g., icing-covered donuts). Information about recommended portion sizes and daily amounts may be important for newcomers who have experienced food scarcity or from contexts where meal times are not a common practice.
- 2. Providing a variety of low-cost healthy foods that are commonly available in Canada provides an important opportunity for newcomer families to make and try new foods in a supportive environment. As one stakeholder stated, "some immigrants tend to end up

liking Canadian foods when they try it". Importantly, ways to access low-cost foods and community resources to support food security will be important for many newcomers.

- 3. Alternatives foods such as canned fruits (preferably with no sugar content) or low sodium canned vegetables may be introduced to HT participants who may be averse to frozen foods or are unable to afford fresh fruits and vegetables during the winter season.
- 4. Suggesting readily available, affordable substitutes for ingredients needed to make healthy traditional foods may be important for some newcomer families, especially those who wish to teach their children about their traditional foods and maintain some cultural traditions.
- 5. Newcomer families can be invited to suggest healthy traditional foods to be included in HT sessions, and be supported in explaining and demonstrating how to make these foods to others in the group.
- 6. Individuals who have been through the experience of migration and resettlement in Canada can be invited to facilitate or co-facilitate HT sessions or provide guest sessions.
- 7. Facilitators should consider one-on-one family sessions for families who for some reason may not be willing or unable to attend HT group sessions.

Content-related recommendations (Physical Activities)

- 8. Introducing HT participants to school and after-school programs, tournaments, and community services supervised by teachers/volunteers in their community can be helpful in removing the time, financial and logistical barriers to engaging in physical activity for low-income families.
- 9. Including physical activities in HT programs that include activities in convenient outdoor areas (e.g, public parks) or other spaces can be used to introduce families to no-cost or low-cost physical activities that they can participate in anytime.

Program-Related Recommendation

- 10. Complementary tools such as YouTube may be used to deliver cooking/physical activity sessions to newcomers who may not be willing or unable to attend HT sessions. This will not only alleviate the effects of the pandemic on HT sessions but also enable people to continue to have access to HT when organizations don't have funds to deliver in-person group sessions.
- 11. When needed, HT facilitators should engage counselors and social workers who can offer support to newcomer immigrants who may be recovering from traumatic experiences and require professional services.
- 12. HT participants with limited English proficiency can be encouraged, when appropriate, to pair themselves with those who are fluent in English during sessions. For example, during

cooking activities, participants can help explain recipes to fellow participants and, in doing so, support cultural and community connections alongside extending English language skills.

- 13. Facilitators should take direction from newcomers about preferences for physical activity, and where possible include familiar activities (e.g., traditional dancing). Introducing low-cost, accessible forms of physical activity that are common in Canada in HT offers newcomer families a safe environment to try out types of activity they may not have engaged in previously. Providing information about accessing free recreational community programs or gyms should also be included given that newcomers may not be familiar with available services and programs.
- 14. Facilitators may need to explore opportunities for donor support for the HT program (e.g., food baskets from the Food Bank).

Recommendations on Healthy Together materials

- HT information resources should be adapted for newcomers with low literacy skills. Short, common words and pictures can be used to effectively communicate information. For example, images of "healthy foods" and physical activities can be displayed to help those who may not be able to read written materials.
- Stakeholders recommended that translator services during HT sessions may be appropriate in some cases to address language barriers and literacy challenges. Alternatives included preparing translations of key HT resources into several languages including Chinese, Arabic, and Spanish, and using video-recorded sessions (e.g., on YouTube) in different languages to support program delivery.

Recommendations for promoting cultural sensitivity

- 1. HT resources and programming should be reviewed to ensure cultural sensitivity. This may include adding cooking activities and recipes to incorporate cultural/traditional foods and physical activities that reflect cultural preferences. Also, adaptations to resources may be needed to support inclusion, reflect diversity (e.g., in images used), and equitable access to HT as well as resources to support healthy lifestyles for low-income families.
- 2. Members of cultural groups who participate in HT sessions should be given the opportunity to play active roles in program planning and delivery. This is supported by stakeholder 4, who stated: "We sit and we look at ourselves and we're predominantly white and we're not newcomers. We're planning the program without them....it's not

balanced." Furthermore, opportunities should also be created for members of cultural groups who may be willing to volunteer during HT sessions.

- 3. Inclusivity, anti-racism, and anti-oppression practices should be reflected in the HT manual and materials as well as in the facilitator training program.
- 4. Snacks and foods provided at HT sessions should accommodate participant food preferences, and provide the opportunity for culturally acceptable food choices.
- 5. To ensure HT physical activity programming is inclusive, activity preferences should be explored to accommodate cultural practices and physical abilities.
- 6. Providing newcomers with information about culturally-focused community organizations, groups and services can facilitate families in linking with resources that can provide important sources of support for families during resettlement. In addition, these groups/organizations can be important resources for facilitators in providing guidance related to culturally appropriate programing or as additional resources for the HT program (e.g., guest sessions).
- 7. Individuals from newcomer/immigrant groups are an important resource for providing advice on ways to enhance HT. Since there are limited examples of ways to engage newcomer fathers in programs to support family lifestyles, men from different immigrant groups are likely to provide helpful guidance in ways to support the involvement of fathers.
- 8. Opportunities to complete HT facilitator training and lead HT programs should be made available to interested individuals who have immigrated to Canada.

References

- Aljaroudi, R., Horton, S., & Hanning, R. M. (2019). Acculturation and dietary acculturation among Arab Muslim immigrants in Canada. *Canadian Journal of Dietetic Practice and Research*. https://doi.org/10.3148/cjdpr-2019-008
- Arredondo, E. M., Ayala, G. X., Soto, S., Slymen, D. J., Horton, L. A., Parada, H., Campbell, N., Ibarra, L., Engelberg, M., & Elder, J. P. (2018). Latina mothers as agents of change in children's eating habits: findings from the randomized controlled trial Entre Familia: Reflejos de Salud. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-018-0714-0
- Ayala, G. X., Ibarra, L., Binggeli-Vallarta, A., Moody, J., Mckenzie, T. L., Angulo, J., Hoyt, H., Chuang, E., Ganiats, T. G., Gahagan, S., Ji, M., Zive, M., Schmied, E., Arredondo, E. M., & Elder, J. P. (2015). Our choice/nuestra opción: The Imperial County, California, childhood obesity research demonstration study (CA-CORD). *Childhood Obesity*. https://doi.org/10.1089/chi.2014.0080
- Ayala, G. X., Ibarra, L., Horton, L., Arredondo, E. M., Slymen, D. J., Engelberg, M., Rock, C. L., Hernandez, E., Parada, H., & Elder, J. P. (2015). Evidence supporting a Promotora-delivered entertainment-education intervention for improving mothers' dietary intake: The Entre Familia: Reflejos de Salud study. *Journal of Health Communication*. https://doi.org/10.1080/10810730.2014.917747
- Azar, K. M. J., Chen, E., Holland, A. T., & Palaniappan, L. P. (2013). Festival Foods in the immigrant diet. In *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-012-9705-4
- Banerjee, A. T., Boyle, M. H., Anand, S. S., Strachan, P. H., & Oremus, M. (2014). The relationship between religious service attendance and coronary heart disease and related risk factors in Saskatchewan, Canada. *Journal of Religion and Health*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10943-012-9609-6
- Banerjee, A. T., Landry, M., Zawi, M., Childerhose, D., Stephens, N., Shafique, A., & Price, J. (2017). A pilot examination of a Mosque-based physical activity intervention for South Asian Muslim women in Ontario, Canada. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-016-0393-3
- Bottorff, J. L., Huisken, A., Hopkins, M., & Nesmith, C. (2020). A RE-AIM evaluation of Healthy Together: a family-centered program to support children's healthy weights. *BMC Public Health*. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-09737-8
- Chapman, G. E., Ristovski-Slijepcevic, S., & Beagan, B. L. (2011). Meanings of food, eating, and health in Punjabi families living in Vancouver, Canada. *Health Education Journal*. https://doi.org/10.1177/0017896910373031

- Dawson-Hahn, E., Koceja, L., Stein, E., Farmer, B., Grow, H. M., Saelens, B. E., Mendoza, J., & Pak-Gorstein, S. (2020). Perspectives of caregivers on the effects of migration on the nutrition, health and physical activity of their young children: A qualitative study with immigrant and refugee families. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-019-00905-6
- Delisle, H. (2010). Findings on dietary patterns in different groups of African origin undergoing nutrition transitionspi_sup1spii_sup. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism*. https://doi.org/10.1139/H10-008
- Dreyhaupt, J., Koch, B., Wirt, T., Schreiber, A., Brandstetter, S., Kesztyüs, D., Wartha, O., Kobel, S., Kettner, S., Prokopchuk, D., Hundsdörfer, V., Klepsch, M., Wiedom, M., Sufeida, S., Fischbach, N., Muche, R., Seufert, T., & Steinacker, J. M. (2012). Evaluation of a health promotion program in children: Study protocol and design of the cluster-randomized Baden-Württemberg primary school study [DRKS-ID: DRKS00000494]. *BMC Public Health*. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-12-157
- Dunn, J. R., & Dyck, I. (2000). Social determinants of health in Canada's immigrant population: Results from the National Population Health Survey. *Social Science and Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0277-9536(00)00053-8
- El Hassan, D. A., & Hekmat, S. (2012). Dietary acculturation of Arab immigrants: In the Greater Toronto Area. *Canadian Journal of Dietetic Practice and Research*. https://doi.org/10.3148/73.3.2012.143
- Ferrari, M., Tweed, S., Anneke Rummens, J., Skinner, H. A., & McVey, G. (2009). Health materials and strategies for the prevention of immigrants' weight-related problems. *Qualitative Health Research*. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732309344181
- Gadd, M., Sundquist, J., Johansson, S. E., & Wändell, P. (2005). Do immigrants have an increased prevalence of unhealthy behaviours and risk factors for coronary heart disease? *European Journal of Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation*. https://doi.org/10.1097/00149831-200512000-00004
- Goodkind, J. R. (2006). Promoting Hmong refugees' well-being through mutual learning: Valuing knowledge, culture, and experience. *American Journal of Community Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10464-005-9003-6
- *Healthy Together*. (n.d.). Retrieved January 23, 2021, from https://www.healthytogether.ca/pages/home
- Hesketh, K. R., Lakshman, R., & van Sluijs, E. M. F. (2017). Barriers and facilitators to young children's physical activity and sedentary behaviour: a systematic review and synthesis of qualitative literature. In *Obesity Reviews*. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12562
- Holtzman, J. D. (2006). Food and memory. *Annual Review of Anthropology*. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.anthro.35.081705.123220

- Horton, L. A., Parada, H., Slymen, D. J., Arredondo, E., Ibarra, L., & Ayala, G. X. (2013). Targeting children's dietary behaviors in a family intervention: Entre familia: Reflejos de salud. *Salud Publica de Mexico*.
- Hull, P. C., Buchowski, M., Canedo, J. R., Beech, B. M., Du, L., Koyama, T., & Zoorob, R. (2018).
 Childhood obesity prevention cluster randomized trial for Hispanic families: outcomes of the healthy families study. *Pediatric Obesity*. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijpo.12197
- IRCC. (2020). Government of Canada announces plan to support economic recovery through immigration - Canada.ca. Government of Canada Announces Plan to Support Economic Recovery through Immigration- Canada.Ca. https://www.canada.ca/en/immigrationrefugees-citizenship/news/2020/10/government-of-canada-announces-plan-to-supporteconomic-recovery-through-immigration.html
- Jolly, K., Griffin, T., Sidhu, M., Adab, P., Burgess, A., Collins, C., Daley, A., Entwistle, A., Frew, E., Hardy, P., Hurley, K., Jones, L., McGee, E., Pallan, M., Sun, Y., Young, M., & Morgan, P. (2020). A weight management programme for fathers of children aged 4–11 years: cultural adaptation and the Healthy Dads, Healthy Kids UK feasibility RCT. *Public Health Research*. https://doi.org/10.3310/phr08020
- Kim, L. P., Harrison, G. G., & Kagawa-Singer, M. (2007). Perceptions of diet and physical activity among California Hmong adults and youths. *Preventing Chronic Disease*.
- Kobel, Kettner, S., Hermeling, L., Dreyhaupt, J., & Steinacker, J. M. (2019). Objectively assessed physical activity and weight status of primary school children in Germany with and without migration backgrounds. *Public Health*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2019.05.009
- Kobel, S., Lämmle, C., Wartha, O., Kesztyüs, D., Wirt, T., & Steinacker, J. M. (2017). Effects of a randomized controlled school-based health promotion intervention on obesity-related behavioural outcomes of children with migration background. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-016-0460-9
- Legault, A., & Marquis, M. (2014). Nutrition information-seeking behaviour: Of low-income pregnant Maghrebian women. *Canadian Journal of Dietetic Practice and Research*. https://doi.org/10.3148/75.1.2014.22
- Liou, D., & Bauer, K. (2010). Obesity Perceptions among Chinese Americans: The Interface of Traditional Chinese and American Values. *Food, Culture, and Society*. https://doi.org/10.2752/175174410X12699432700908
- Malmusi, D., Borrell, C., & Benach, J. (2010). Migration-related health inequalities: showing the complex interactions between gender, social class, and place of origin. *Social Science and Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.07.043
- Morgan, P. J., Collins, C. E., Plotnikoff, R. C., Callister, R., Burrows, T., Fletcher, R., Okely, A. D.,Young, M. D., Miller, A., Lloyd, A. B., Cook, A. T., Cruickshank, J., Saunders, K. L., & Lubans, D.R. (2014). The "Healthy Dads, Healthy Kids" community randomized controlled trial: A

community-based healthy lifestyle program for fathers and their children. *Preventive Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2013.12.019

- Morgan, P. J., Lubans, D. R., Plotnikoff, R. C., Callister, R., Burrows, T., Fletcher, R., Okely, A. D., Young, M. D., Miller, A., Clay, V., Lloyd, A., & Collins, C. E. (2011). The "Healthy Dads, Healthy Kids" community effectiveness trial: Study protocol of a community-based healthy lifestyle program for fathers and their children. *BMC Public Health*. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-11-876
- O'Connor, T. M., Perez, O., Beltran, A., Colón García, I., Arredondo, E., Parra Cardona, R., Cabrera, N., Thompson, D., Baranowski, T., & Morgan, P. J. (2020). Cultural adaptation of "Healthy Dads, Healthy Kids" for Hispanic families: Applying the ecological validity model. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-020-00949-0
- Oliffe, J. L., Grewal, S., Bottorff, J. L., Dhesi, J., Bindy, H., Kang, K., Ward, A., & Hislop, T. G. (2010). Masculinities, diet and senior Punjabi Sikh immigrant men: Food for Western thought? *Sociology of Health and Illness*. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9566.2010.01252.x
- Peña, M. M., Dixon, B., & Taveras, E. M. (2012). Are you talking to me? The importance of ethnicity and culture in childhood obesity prevention and management. In *Childhood Obesity*. https://doi.org/10.1089/chi.2011.0109
- Renzaho, A. M. N., McCabe, M., & Swinburn, B. (2012). Intergenerational differences in food, physical activity, and body size perceptions among African migrants. *Qualitative Health Research*. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732311425051
- Ristovski-Slijepcevic, S., Chapman, G. E., & Beagan, B. L. (2010). Being a "good mother": Dietary governmentality in the family food practices of three ethnocultural groups in Canada. *Health*. https://doi.org/10.1177/1363459309357267
- Sanou, D., O'Reilly, E., Ngnie-Teta, I., Batal, M., Mondain, N., Andrew, C., Newbold, B. K., & Bourgeault, I. L. (2014). Acculturation and nutritional health of immigrants in Canada: A scoping review. In *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-013-9823-7
- Schmied, E., Parada, H., Horton, L., Ibarra, L., & Ayala, G. (2015). A process evaluation of an efficacious family-based intervention to promote healthy eating: The Entre Familia: Reflejos de Salud Study. *Health Education and Behavior*. https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198115577375
- Stern, M., Soca Lozano, S., Lescano, C., Rodriguez, C., & Redwine, L. (2021). Developing Adaptando Dieta Y Acción Para Todos (ADAPT): An intervention to improve healthy lifestyle behaviors among Latino parents and children living in rural communities. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-020-01037-y

Tiedje, K., Wieland, M. L., Meiers, S. J., Mohamed, A. A., Formea, C. M., Ridgeway, J. L., Asiedu, G.

B., Boyum, G., Weis, J. A., Nigon, J. A., Patten, C. A., & Sia, I. G. (2014). A focus group study of healthy eating knowledge, practices, and barriers among adult and adolescent immigrants and refugees in the United States. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*. https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5868-11-63

- Tovar, A., Renzaho, A. M. N., Guerrero, A. D., Mena, N., & Ayala, G. X. (2014). A systematic review of obesity prevention intervention studies among immigrant populations in the US. *Current Obesity Reports*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13679-014-0101-3
- Tremblay, M. S., Bryan, S. N., Pérez, C. E., Ardern, C. I., & Katzmarzyk, P. T. (2006). Physical activity and immigrant status: Evidence from the Canadian community health survey. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf03405603
- Vang, Z. M., Sigouin, J., Flenon, A., & Gagnon, A. (2017). Are immigrants healthier than nativeborn Canadians? A systematic review of the healthy immigrant effect in Canada. *Ethnicity* and Health. https://doi.org/10.1080/13557858.2016.1246518
- Vue, W., Wolff, C., & Goto, K. (2011). Hmong food helps us remember who we are: Perspectives of food culture and health among Hmong women with young children. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneb.2009.10.011
- Walker, G. J., Caperchione, C. M., Mummery, W. K., & Chau, S. (2015). Examining the role of acculturation in the leisure-time physical activity of South Asians living in Canada. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsams.2014.02.010
- Wieland, M. L., Hanza, M. M. M., Weis, J. A., Meiers, S. J., Patten, C. A., Clark, M. M., Sloan, J. A., Novotny, P. J., Njeru, J. W., Abbenyi, A., Levine, J. A., Goodson, M., Capetillo, G. D. P., Osman, A., Hared, A., Nigon, J. A., & Sia, I. G. (2018). Healthy immigrant families: Randomized controlled trial of a family-based nutrition and physical activity intervention. *American Journal of Health Promotion*. https://doi.org/10.1177/0890117117733342
- Wieland, M. L., Tiedje, K., Meiers, S. J., Mohamed, A. A., Formea, C. M., Ridgeway, J. L., Asiedu, G. B., Boyum, G., Weis, J. A., Nigon, J. A., Patten, C. A., & Sia, I. G. (2013). Perspectives on physical activity among immigrants and refugees to a small urban community in Minnesota. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-013-9917-2
- Wieland, M. L., Weis, J. A., Hanza, M. M. K., Meiers, S. J., Patten, C. A., Clark, M. M., Sloan, J. A., Novotny, P. J., Njeru, J. W., Abbenyi, A., Levine, J. A., Goodson, M., Porraz Capetillo, M. G. D., Osman, A., Hared, A., Nigon, J. A., & Sia, I. G. (2016). Healthy immigrant families: Participatory development and baseline characteristics of a community-based physical activity and nutrition intervention. *Contemporary Clinical Trials*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cct.2015.12.004
- Yin, Z., Parra-Medina, D., Cordova, A., He, M., Trummer, V., Sosa, E., Gallion, K. J., Sintes-Yallen, A., Huang, Y., Wu, X., Acosta, D., Kibbe, D., & Ramirez, A. (2012). Míranos! Look at us, we are healthy! an environmental approach to early childhood obesity prevention. *Childhood*

Obesity. https://doi.org/10.1089/chi.2011.0125

Appendices

Interview Guide

HT offers a comprehensive approach to promoting healthy eating and physical activity in families with children age 0-18 years. The program has the potential to fill gaps in community programming to promote healthy lifestyles among immigrant and refugee families as well as providing an avenue for building social connections and supporting family resettlement experiences. In this project, we are interviewing community organizations that provide services to newcomer families to understand ways in which the Healthy Together program can be adapted to meet the needs of newcomer immigrants to Canada.

- 1. Please tell me about your role in relation to serving newcomer immigrants, the services you (or your organization) usually provide to newcomer families, and how are these services delivered (e.g., in groups, to individual families, etc.)?
- 2. Tell me about the newcomer families that usually access your services (e.g., countries of origin, number/ages of children, English proficiency, health concerns, etc.).
- 3. Based on your experience and observations, what do you think are the most important needs for newcomer families in relation to healthy eating as they transition to living in Canada?

Probes

- a. What are the challenges experienced by the newcomers you serve in feeding their families?
- **b.** What gaps are there in the programs/services available to support healthy eating in newcomer families?
- c. What are some ways that programs to support caregivers/parents in providing healthy meals for their families can be modified to work for newcomers?
 - i. think about individual families or a one-on-one cooking activity
 - ii. Are group cooking activities possible
- d. Where do you see opportunities for integrating and/or strengthening support for healthy eating in the services you provide newcomer families? (what might work best?)
- Based on your observations, what do you think are the most important needs for newcomer families in relation to physical activity? *Probes*

- a. What are the challenges experienced by the newcomer families you serve in engaging in physical activity? What kinds of physical activities are likely to be acceptable to the newcomer families you work with?
- **b.** What gaps are there in programs/services available to support physical activity in newcomer families?
- c. What are some ways that programs to support families in engaging in physical activity can be modified to work for newcomer families?
- 5. In what ways do you think that the HT resources might be used with newcomer families to promote social connections, build a sense of community, and connect families to community resources?
- 6. What approaches/strategies are key considerations in supporting newcomer family engagement in programs and/or activities to support healthful lifestyles? (e.g., for families who have experienced trauma, food scarcity, etc.)
- 7. What strategies have you used in other programs/services to ensure they are culturally appropriate to newcomers?
- 8. What are your ideas about how to ensure that Healthy Together is both culturally appropriate and supports newcomer families who come to your organizations?
- 9. Do you have any additional suggestions for the Healthy Together team you want me to pass along to them?

Sample of transcribed Interviews

Stakeholder 1

- AF: Please tell me about your role in relation to serving newcomer immigrants, the services you (or your organization) usually provide to newcomer families, and how are these services delivered (e.g., in groups, to individual families, etc.)?
- CS: settlement services provider. So we have a pretty big team of settlement workers.
- AF: Tell me about the newcomer families that usually access your services (e.g., countries of origin, number/ages of children, English proficiency, health concerns, etc.)
- CS: Haitian Families Syrian families and, Arabic speaking families, French-speaking countries in Africa. Usually, language proficiency is very low, either French or English
- AF: Based on your experience and observations, what do you think are the most important needs for newcomer families in relation to healthy eating as they transition to living in Canada?
- CS: Newcomers don't necessarily find in the supermarket here, the same or similar foods that they found in their countries of origin. Also, people don't know how to cook the foods that they are being introduced to. Food insecurity is a big issue in this neighborhood "So finding, um, grocery stores provide for your family on a budget. Packing lunches for their children is something that's, also new for some of them. Because of the language proficiency issues, many people cannot read labels "we hear about a lot and knowing how to read some of the labels, you know, especially if there's a language proficiency issue to know, to, to understand the nutritional values of the foods that they're buying"
- AF: What gaps are there in the programs/services available to support healthy eating in newcomer families?
- CS: funding is always an issue. Funding for staff funding for food funding for equipment. So, yeah. Uh, I think that's the biggest, uh, biggest challenge in terms of programming.
- AF: What are some ways that programs to support caregivers/parents in providing healthy meals for their families can be modified to work for newcomers. Think about individual families or one-on-one cooking activities. Are group cooking activities possible
- CS: Definitely group cooking activities are possible. "Because there's a lot of isolation. Uh, so I think the group activity allows them to meet each other also, and to build a social network"

- AF Where do you see opportunities for integrating and/or strengthening support for healthy eating in the services you provide newcomer families? (What might work best?)
- CS: Staff needs to be trained, you know, on a, on a regular basis as we get a lot of turnover in staff. The staff just need to know what to do and how to do it
- AF: Based on your observations, what do you think are the most important needs for newcomer families in relation to physical activity?
- CS: Well I think it's just knowledge. "sharing knowledge about, you know, uh, physical activity in general and you know, how much exercise do we need, what are healthy weights healthy" how do you do physical activity, what kind of clothes do you need to be able to do these activities. Snow pants, good both, and gloves. Where to find these items at a low cost.
- AF: What are the challenges experienced by the newcomer families you serve in engaging in physical activity?
- *CS:* So winter obviously, uh, is a challenge. Obviously, there's a cost to that. What free activities can one do?
- AF: What kinds of physical activities are likely to be acceptable to the newcomer families you work with?
- CS: physical activity that everybody can do. Just walking in the neighborhood, we have a bicycle program here also where we lend bicycles, uh, in the summer to families who need them.
- AF: What gaps are there in programs/services available to support physical activity in newcomer families?
- CS: Just the funding, for equipment
- AF: What are some ways that programs to support families in engaging in physical activity can be modified to work for newcomer families?
- CS: Having, um, some flexibility in the program., it's having different types of activities and different levels of activity and a mix of indoor and outdoor activities so that you can pick and choose, you know, so if a program is too rigid, I think that's what makes it challenging. asking them what they, they would like to do that always helps

- AF: In what ways do you think that the HT resources might be used with newcomer families to promote social connections, build a sense of community, and connect families to community resources?
- CS: Staff that is knowledgeable in the cities that they work so that they're able to share those resources. Offering activities, I think promote social connection. group programs is more useful to newcomers because sometimes they have the same question as someone else or they'll learn from somebody else's question and that builds community.
- AF: What approaches/strategies are key considerations in supporting newcomer family engagement in programs and/or activities to support healthful lifestyles? (e.g., for families who have experienced trauma, food scarcity, etc.)

By making HT a national program that is delivered in the app across the country

- AF: What strategies have you used in other programs/services to ensure they are culturally appropriate to newcomers?
- CS: just asking the families, you know, sometimes we ask them to share a recipe with us or a physical activity that they did in their country and to share that with the group
- AF: What are your ideas about how to ensure that Healthy Together is both culturally appropriate and supports newcomer families who come to your organizations?

Just being inclusive of everybody and, uh, um, learning from each other. Having interpreters is great. Usually, we don't have the budget for that, but that's something to consider. you have a big population that speaks a certain language, then maybe you can offer the program in Arabic.

Stakeholder No 2

- AF: Tell me about the newcomer families that usually access your services (e.g., countries of origin, number/ages of children, English proficiency, health concerns, etc.)
- CS: Mix of newcomers including immigrants from China, Japan, Philippines, and Iran. There is some English but it's not fluent.
- AF: Based on your experience and observations, what do you think are the most important needs for newcomer families in relation to healthy eating as they transition to living in Canada?

- ST: I think educating newcomers to have a value of what healthy eating is and an understanding of what healthy eating is. "So we used to get free pastries from Starbucks and they would be massive cookies or cakes that are really really sugary treats. And our immigrant families would take them because they were free. And then they would give them to their children because their children were hungry, but they're not good for an 18month-old or a one-year-old". A lack of knowledge of what constitutes healthy eating is a major problem because some of them think sweet stuff is healthy
- AF: What are the challenges experienced by the newcomers you serve in feeding their families?
- ST: The costs, they can't afford it. They cannot go to the grocery store and get enough good, healthy food. Fruits and vegetables are more expensive than a bag of chips or a bag of cookies or a bag of bear paws. So they're going to do what's easiest for them
- AF: What gaps are there in the programs/services available to support healthy eating in newcomer families?
- ST: There are lots of resources for families but if you can't afford to feed your family, the resources aren't any good.
- AF: What are some ways that programs to support caregivers/parents in providing healthy meals for their families can be modified to work for newcomers.
- ST: Yeah, we have a lot of success when we had families at night time cooking supper together and eating together and so supper a big meal and to be able to provide one free supper in a week is huge.
- AF: Where do you see opportunities for integrating and/or strengthening support for healthy eating in the services you provide newcomer families? (What might work best?)
- ST: Well knowing where the resources are, knowing where the food banks are, and knowing where to get cheap food from knowing where to get coupons from locally, so that they're not taking bus to Boston bus because, in Vancouver, there's a place called quest spooning exchange. And it's great to have low-cost food, but you have to take three buses and an hour and a half just to get there. So as a single parent, you're not going to take a toddler, an infant on the bus for an hour and a half there to get two bags of food to come back and an hour and a half bus ride. So availability within the community is number one.

- AF: What are the challenges experienced by the newcomer families you serve in engaging in physical activity?
- ST: Well, it's cold and wet, dark outside. So it's really hard to muster up the desire just to go outside. So having fun things to do inside
- AF: What kinds of physical activities are likely to be acceptable to the newcomer families you work with?
- ST: Probably things that are fun, things that are engaging, things that make them feel joy and happiness, laughing, and enjoying interaction and bonding with their child, things that are not feeling like work.
- AF: Can you give some examples?
- ST: You could play frog, you could play tag, you could play on, I forget the game where you have to put your hand and your feet on these circles of different colors and you're stretching all over each other. Things like that, things that are easy and things that are not challenging and things that are quick, and things that are free.

But sometimes parents only watch children play. When you get caught up in a new country, a new language, new culture, you're away from your family and your friends, you don't really feel much like playing.

- AF: What gaps are there in programs/services available to support physical activity in newcomer families?
- ST: The number one gap is how newcomer families hear about healthy together? "So time and time and time again, we hear families saying, Oh, I didn't know about you for a whole year. I wish I known about you earlier. So there are resources available"
- AF: How do we overcome this problem?
- ST: Welcoming newcomer families at the airport with pamphlets that contain essential service locations like grocery stores. "And so as new immigrant families are coming, when they go from the airport to wherever they're going, there's that big, uh, black hole of oblivion of knowledge, where they get sucked into just day to day life of, Oh, I just have to find a place to live. I need to find a doctor. I need to find school for my child and food for my child"
- AF: What are some ways that programs to support families in engaging in physical activity can be modified to work for newcomer families?

- ST: It has to be something that can be done endorsed and has to be something that does not require any equipment and has to be something fun. And it has to be a priority like that, understanding that if your child does not get exercise and they don't eat healthily, they're not school ready
- AF: In what ways do you think that the HT resources might be used with newcomer families to promote social connections, build a sense of community, and connect families to community resources?
- ST: Oh, well the HT together has phenomenal resources, but it's in a book. And as we both know, nobody reads books anymore. So it has to be an app period. If it's not on the phone, people are not doing it. They're not accessing it doesn't matter if there's a website, it doesn't matter. Nobody's going to websites. It has to be an app
- AF: What approaches/strategies are key considerations in supporting newcomer family engagement in programs and/or activities to support healthful lifestyles? (e.g., for families who have experienced trauma, food scarcity, etc.)
- ST: By making HT a national program that is delivered in the app across the country
- AF: What strategies have you used in other programs/services to ensure they are culturally appropriate to newcomers?
- ST: Making sure that everybody is comfortable with whatever is being done. Doing things that transcend many cultures
- AF: What are your ideas about how to ensure that Healthy Together is both culturally appropriate and supports newcomer families who come to your organizations?

Findings ways to ensure people relate with each other very well. Find out the reasons some people are not interested or do not show up after a service.

Stakeholder No 3

- AF: Please tell me about your role in relation to serving newcomer immigrants, the services you (or your organization) usually provide to newcomer families, and how are these services delivered (e.g., in groups, to individual families, etc.)?
- JJ: We typically see East African women, Arab women, Chinese women. Some women from Poland and Germany.

- AF: Based on your experience and observations, what do you think are the most important needs for newcomer families in relation to healthy eating as they transition to living in Canada?
- JJ: access to healthy food, fresh fruit, vegetables in the winter" access to foods that they're familiar with. Access to information around foods that are new to them. but the most important is access to food that, that they're familiar with so access to healthy food, fresh fruit and vegetables in the winter, um, and the facilitator, uh, and again, finding foods from their home countries. The glorification of fast food as a sign of success slash demanded by children. They often go for cheaper snacks and cheaper fast foods.
- AF: You did mention access to, uh, fresh vegetables in the winter. Why winter in particular?
- JJ: So fresh fruit and vegetables in the winter are more expensive, right. So I think it's more of it's shopping based on a budget and looking for, uh, fresh fruits and vegetables that are not as costly
- AF: What gaps are there in the programs/services available to support healthy eating in newcomer families?
- JJ: So no status in Canada is one. I have been part of partnerships with programs where they have to have papers to show their status in order to participate. Language barriers is the big one. cultural barriers around food, vegetarian, no beef products. a lot of the healthy eating programs are also based on Canadian foods. Maybe programs can incorporate foods from other cultures as examples.
- AF: What are some ways that programs to support caregivers/parents in providing healthy meals for their families can be modified to work for newcomers. Think about individual families or one-on-one cooking activities. Are group cooking activities possible
- JJ: incorporate ethnic food in cooking activities last top-down approaches, let participants partake in deciding what the activities are. Let people bring their own recipe because they're more engaged when they're bringing the recipes to the group, they take on leadership roles and feel more connected to their community.

Group activities are possible, but children are an issue. Many will not consider food cooked by kids, real food. But you can make cooking sessions for both children and adults. many love YouTube cooking videos in their own language.

- AF Where do you see opportunities for integrating and/or strengthening support for healthy eating in the services you provide newcomer families? (What might work best?)
- JJ: more conversations about food, uh, online presence with ideas. Provide like that YouTube cooking videos. There's a lot of potentials there for our communities to use that platform.
- AF: Based on your observations, what do you think are the most important needs for newcomer families in relation to physical activity?
- JJ: So winter is a big, big one. There are misconceptions about going outside in the cold. it's about access to warm clothing for adults and children. For newcomers that mostly live in apartments, they don't necessarily have a backyard outside to engage in physical activities. Taboos about public physical activity for women and girls – walking may be allowed but not running. Physical activity is not something associated with fun and mainly it's for children, not something they have grown up with as important. So being gendersensitive in service provision. Like gyms with women, only sections are expensive. Women are very self-conscious around white people, dominated groups.

Women only physical activities and community centers are often visible for outsiders still. So when we do ours, we cover the windows so that they can't see, they can't see inside.

"We've incorporated their own music and dance traditions to help them become active". In the end, it comes back to the participants teaching the facilitators and teaching other participants as well.

Communicating that it's really healthy, go outside in the winter and get fresh air and what can you do in the winter. Where can you get access to winter clothes and winter boots?

it comes down to a lot of conversations and listening about experiences and then sharing, um, the benefits of being outside

- AF: What approaches/strategies are key considerations in supporting newcomer family engagement in programs and/or activities to support healthful lifestyles? (e.g., for families who have experienced trauma, food scarcity, etc.)
- JJ: So safe spaces is a big one. Peer-based activities because the peer has experiences that are related to the group they're facilitating. Be flexible in activities. Engaging newcomers by asking for their opinions, understanding what they're wanting to focus on. Having a facilitator that, um, understands the need for safety like welcoming people, smiling.it can be very, very basic, behaviors that really can start to create that safe space

- AF: What strategies have you used in other programs/services to ensure they are culturally appropriate to newcomers?
- JJ: if we're providing a snack, um, we ensure that there are no meat products. "we keep the snacks where there's fruit and vegetables, um, so that we're not running into providing a snack where somebody wouldn't eat it" we don't make assumptions. listening and observing and, and participating alongside newcomers. What we do is we follow the person's lead.
- AF: What are your ideas about how to ensure that Healthy Together is both culturally appropriate and supports newcomer families who come to your organizations?

Being mindful of the physical activity. Have room for the participants to suggest physical activities. We are really as an organization, reflecting on inclusivity and anti-racism, and anti-oppression, and thinking about how we design programs and deliver programs. Newcomers being part of the planning process for healthy together. Moving forward and looking at a program that involves/focuses on newcomers, our approach now would be having them help us to plan it.

- AF: Do you have any additional suggestions for the Healthy Together team you want me to pass along to them?
- Step 1: JJ: I think it's a solid program. But it comes down to funding. Is there a way to deliver it virtually? It would be nice to have programs that can go back and forth in person and virtual, so that there isn't a disruption in, uh, resources and programs for, for children and families.